



**Agenda Item No. 17a. and 17b.**

**Staff Report**

**Date:** December 8, 2016

**To:** Mayor Hoertkorn and Councilmembers

**From:** Inder Khalsa, Assistant Town Attorney  
Heidi Scoble, Planning Manager

**Subject:** Ordinances 678 and 679 Interim and Regular Ordinances Amending Ross  
Municipal Code Chapters 18.16 and 18.42- Accessory Dwelling Unit (Second Unit)

---

**Recommendation**

1. Adopt Urgency Ordinance No. 678 to adopt an urgency ordinance amending Ross Municipal Code Chapter 18.42 (Second Units) updating Ross's regulations to comply with recent amendments to State Law regarding Accessory Dwelling Units.
2. Consider introduction and first reading of Ordinance No. 679 to amend Ross Municipal Code Chapter 18.16 (Single Family Residence (R-1) District) and Chapter 18.42 (Second Units) to comply with recent amendments to State Law regarding Accessory Dwelling Units.

**Background and Discussion**

Currently, state law allows cities to adopt an ordinance that imposes certain standards for second units (now termed "accessory dwelling units" or ADUs) and requires cities to ministerially process second unit applications based on certain objective criteria. In late September, Governor Brown signed Assembly Bill 2299 ("AB 2299") and Senate Bill 1069 ("SB 1069") amending Government Code Section 65852.2 to further limit cities' ability to regulate accessory dwelling units effective January 1, 2017. The new legislation provides that cities must adopt an ordinance that complies with the new restrictions by January 1, 2017, or be required to approve all accessory dwelling units that meet certain very minimal state criteria.

The new legislation further limits the standards that the Town can impose on accessory dwelling units, and preempts local regulations entirely for certain types of applications. Discussed below are some of the highlights of the State-mandated changes as well as some areas of discussion the Council can consider:

### ***New Legislation Highlights***

In order to comply with the new State legislation, an ADU ordinance must provide for the following:

- **Location.** Designate areas where ADUs are permitted. This must include any single-family residential zone. The proposed ordinance allows ADUs on any parcel in a single-family zoning district (R-1 zoning district) that has a primary residential unit on the parcel.
- **Minimal Setbacks.** New construction ADUs are subject to the Town's setback requirements. For an ADU converted from an existing garage or accessory building, the Town may not require any setback (beyond what would be required by local building and fire codes). For an ADU above a garage, no setback greater than five feet from the side or rear property lines may be required. The proposed ordinance includes the minimum setback requirements for conversions and ADUs located above a garage.
- **ADU Parking Requirements.** The Town can require a maximum of one parking space per bedroom. Uncovered, tandem parking on an existing driveway, or parking in setbacks must be allowed to satisfy the one-space per bedroom requirement unless the city makes specific findings that it is either not feasible based upon features of the site, or regional topographical/safety conditions. These standards have been incorporated into the proposed ordinance.
- **No Parking for Certain ADUs.** A city cannot require parking for an ADU that is:
  - Located within one half-mile of public transit.
  - Located within an architecturally and historically significant district.
  - Part of the existing primary residences or an existing access structure including basement and garage conversions.
  - Located within one block of a car share vehicle.
  - Located within an area where the city requires on-street parking permits but does not offer the permits to the ADU occupant.
- **Replacement Parking.** Where a garage or carport is demolished or converted to an ADU, the Town may require those parking spaces to be replaced, but the spaces may be uncovered and may be located another configuration on the site much like the ADU spaces.
- **Owner-Occupant and Rental Term.** The legislation allows but does not require the Town to require that a deed restriction be recorded ensuring that the property with the ADU will remain owner-occupied, and prohibiting rental of the ADU for less than 30 days (vacation rentals). The proposed ordinance requires a deed restriction to be recorded on approved ADUs.

Staff has prepared both an urgency ordinance and a regular ordinance amending the Town's regulations on accessory dwelling units to ensure that the Town may continue to impose reasonable ministerial standards on ADUs starting on January 1, 2017.

***Other Related Code Amendment***

As stated previously, the new state legislation allows the conversion of existing garages and accessory buildings even if the garage is located within a required setback. Although the State legislation preempts the Town from prohibiting the conversion of existing garages to ADU's, the Town does have the ability to prohibit the conversion of nonconforming garages. Therefore, proposed ADU ordinance would amend Section 18.16.050 of the Ross Municipal Code to include a provision that states, "Except as provided in Chapter 18.42, private garages located within any requisite setback are prohibited from being converted to any other use than parking."

**Fiscal, resource and timeline impacts**

The matter has involved time by the Town Attorney to prepare the ordinances. Enforcement of the zoning ordinance may incur staff time in the future.

**Alternative actions**

1. Modify the language of the ordinance
2. Do not adopt the ordinance.

**Environmental review (if applicable)**

The proposed modification to Chapter 18.42 (Accessory Dwelling Units) is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA"), pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15282(h) which exempts the adoption of an ordinance regarding second units in a single-family or multi-family residential zone.

**Attachments**

1. Ordinance No. 678
2. Ordinance No. 679
3. Redline Version of Code Amendments to Section 18.16.050 and Chapter 18.42 of the Ross Municipal Code

# ATTACHMENT 1

**TOWN OF ROSS**

**URGENCY ORDINANCE NO. 678**

**AN URGENCY ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF ROSS AMENDING  
CHAPTER 18.42 OF THE TOWN OF ROSS MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING  
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS (SECOND UNITS)  
AND MAKING URGENCY FINDINGS**

The Town Council of the Town of Ross does ordain as follows:

**SECTION 1:** Purpose and Urgency Findings. The Town Council finds as follows:

(a) Effective January 1, 2017, Assembly Bill 2299 (“AB 2299”) and Senate Bill 1069 (“SB 1069”) amend Government Code Section 65852.2 to limit the types of standards cities may impose on second units (now termed “accessory dwelling units”).

(b) As amended, Government Code Section 65852.2 requires that the Town’s Accessory Dwelling Units ordinance incorporate State-mandated standards for certain types of accessory dwelling units.

(c) In addition, Government Code Section 65852.2 allows the Town to establish certain objective standards related to parking, height, setback, lot coverage, landscaping, and certain architectural requirements, which must be applied ministerially except where a property owner is seeking an exception to such standards.

(d) In the absence of a State-compliant ordinance on January 1, 2017, the Town’s existing second unit standards would be considered null and void pursuant to Government Code Section 65852.2(a)(4) and the Town would be required to approve any accessory dwelling unit meeting minimal state criteria.

(e) Therefore, the Town Council finds and determines that the immediate preservation of the public health, safety and welfare requires that this ordinance be enacted as an urgency ordinance pursuant to Government Code Section 36937(b) and take effect immediately upon adoption. If this Ordinance does not become effective immediately, but instead becomes effective thirty days after its second reading, ambiguity and confusion regarding the applicability of the Town’s second unit/accessory dwelling unit standards could result, with inconsistent and unfair results for Town residents. Therefore, this Ordinance is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, safety and welfare and its urgency is hereby declared.

**SECTION 2:** Chapter 18.42 “Second Units” of the Ross Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Chapter 18.42

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS”

Sections:

- 18.42.010 Purpose.
- 18.42.020 Definitions.
- 18.42.030 Applicability.
- 18.42.035 Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit Required.
- 18.42.045 Permit Application and Procedures.
- 18.42.050 Standards for Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.060 Design Review of Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.062 Exceptions to Standards for Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.065 Rent-Restricted Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.070 Administration and Enforcement.

18.42.010 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to establish a procedure for the development of new accessory dwelling units that will comply with California Government Code Section 65852.2, ensure safe and healthy living environments, and encourage well-designed legal accessory dwelling units in all residential neighborhoods as an important way to provide workforce and special needs housing. One of the purposes of this chapter is to help achieve the goals and policies of the adopted Housing Element of the Town of Ross General Plan by encouraging a mix of housing types affordable to all economic segments of the community. It is the intent of this chapter to expand the availability of accessory dwelling units in the town.

18.42.020 Definitions. For the purposes of this chapter the following words have the following definitions:

“Accessory dwelling unit” (or “second unit”) means an attached or detached residential dwelling unit which provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. It shall include a kitchen as defined herein, as well as permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same parcel where the single-family dwelling is situated. An accessory dwelling unit also includes an efficiency unit as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 17958.1 and a manufactured home as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 18007.

“Affordable rent level” means that the accessory dwelling unit household’s monthly cost of rent, plus the cost of electricity, gas, water and sewer service, and garbage collection (hereinafter “utilities”) is 30% or less than the upper limit of the annual gross household income, divided by 12, for a specified income category and household size as last published by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (hereinafter “HCD”). The Town shall determine maximum affordable rent levels for rent-restricted accessory dwelling units following the annual publication of the State Income Limits by HCD. In determining rent levels, the household size for rent-restricted accessory dwelling units shall be: studio, 1 person; one-bedroom, 2 persons; two-bedroom, 3 persons; and, three-bedroom, 4 persons. The cost of utilities for the accessory dwelling unit shall be included in the affordable rent level. For rent-restricted accessory dwelling units where utilities are separately metered and billed, and where the accessory dwelling unit household is responsible for the costs of that household’s use of utilities, the maximum rent shall be set at 90% of the affordable rent level. “Gross household income” means the total monies earned or received by all members of a household age 18 and over, including: wages and all types of compensation, before any payroll deductions; spousal and child support; social security, retirement, disability, insurance, and other types of periodic payments; unemployment compensation and other payments in-lieu of earnings; welfare and

other public assistance; interest, dividends and other payments generated from any real or personal property; net business income; and, any other type of payment determined to qualify as income by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and as published in the HUD's Housing Choice Voucher Program Guidebook. The annual gross household income is calculated by multiplying the monthly amounts earned or received at the time of certification by 12 and adjusting for anticipated payments and changes in amounts over the next 12 months.

“Household” means those persons who collectively occupy a housing unit. A property owner's household shall include any child or dependent, as defined in section 152 of the Internal Revenue Code, of the property owner who is under the age of 18 or is under the age of 24 and is a full-time student.

“Household size” means the number of persons in a household.

“Kitchen” shall mean a room or portion thereof containing permanent facilities designed and used for food preparation, cooking, eating and dish washing. A kitchen shall include all of the following: a sink with hot and cold running water; a range or stove and oven; at a minimum, an apartment-sized refrigerator; and built-in dish and utensil storage spaces. A kitchen may also include any of the following: microwave, convection oven, hot plate or automatic dish washer.

“Nonconforming accessory dwelling unit” means an accessory dwelling unit approved as an accessory dwelling unit or second unit through the issuance of a conditional use permit or an accessory dwelling unit that meets the definition of an accessory dwelling unit and was occupied prior to the adoption of accessory dwelling unit or second unit regulations without a conditional use permit. The planning director shall determine the status of such units in accordance with the provisions of this code.

“Primary residential unit” or “primary residence” means the dwelling having the largest floor area located on any one lot or parcel within a single-family residential zoning district. Such primary residential unit is further defined as a building that provides complete, independent living facilities for one or more persons and permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation.

“Rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit” means an accessory dwelling unit that is approved under a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit. A rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit shall only be rented to a very low income household at an affordable rent level or occupied by an owner whose household qualifies as a very low income household.

“Rent” means to enter into an agreement whereby the occupant(s) of the accessory dwelling unit makes a monetary payment or exchange of goods or services in consideration of occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit.

“Accessory dwelling unit affordable rent certification” means documentation and certification that an accessory dwelling unit is being rented to a very low income household at an affordable rent level or is exclusively being occupied by an owner whose household qualifies as a very low income household. Required information for documentation and certification shall include the rent charged, the utilities included in the monthly rent, the household size of the accessory dwelling unit, the names and ages of the accessory dwelling unit occupants, and the gross household income of the accessory dwelling unit household.

“Single family residential zoning district” means a district listed in this code that allows one single-family dwelling on a particular lot or parcel, otherwise known as an “R-1” zoning district.

“Very low income household” means a household with an annual gross household income of 50% or less than the Marin County median annual gross household income for that household size as last published by HCD.

18.42.030 Applicability. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all nonconforming accessory dwelling units and to all accessory dwelling units hereinafter approved or constructed. .

18.42.035 Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit Required. An accessory dwelling unit is allowed on any parcel in a single-family residential zoning district with a primary unit, subject to the issuance of an accessory dwelling unit permit. No more than one accessory dwelling unit per lot or parcel shall be permitted except as provided in Section 18.42.062(a).

18.42.045 Permit Application and Procedures.

(a) Accessory Dwelling Unit Subject to Administrative Review.

(1) Application. An owner may apply for an accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(2) Decision. The town planner shall consider the application without discretionary review, public notice, or a hearing. The town planner shall approve the application if he or she determines that the application meets all of the requirements and standards in Section 18.42.050 and Section 18.42.060. The town planner shall deny the application if he or she determines that it does not meet all of such requirements. The town planner’s decision shall be in writing and shall state the reasons for approval or denial. The town planner’s decision shall be final.

(b) Accessory Dwelling Unit Subject to Town Council Review.

(1) General. The town council may grant discretionary exceptions to the development standards regulating the number of accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel and accessory dwelling unit height, location, size and floor area as set forth in Sections 18.42.062 and 18.42.065.

(2) Application – accessory dwelling unit permit. Where an owner seeks an exception to the development standards pursuant to Sections 18.42.062, the owner may apply for an accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(3) Application – rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit. Where an owner seeks an exception to the floor area requirement as set forth in Section 18.42.050(e), the owner may apply for a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the



town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(4) Hearing. The town council shall hold a public hearing on the application.

(5) Decision. The town council shall approve or deny the application in accordance with the provisions of Section 18.42.062 or Section 18.42.065. The town council shall make its determination on the individual merit of each application without following or establishing precedent. The town council shall not approve an application unless it makes specific findings of fact as provided in Section 18.42.062 or Section 18.42.065.

18.42.050 Standards for accessory dwelling units.

(a) Parking. One parking space shall be provided for each bedroom provided by the accessory dwelling unit in addition to those required for the primary unit.

(1) The location of the required parking space(s) shall not obstruct the parking of the primary unit. The required parking space(s) may be in tandem and within the setback areas but shall be screened from public view.

(2) When a garage, carport, or covered parking structure is demolished in conjunction with the construction of an accessory dwelling unit, the off-street parking spaces shall be replaced. The replacement parking spaces may be located in another configuration on the same lot as the accessory dwelling unit and may be covered, uncovered, or tandem spaces.

(b) Off-street parking is not required for an accessory dwelling unit in any of the following instances:

(1) The accessory dwelling unit is located within one-half mile of public transit.

(2) The accessory dwelling unit is located within a historic district.

(3) The accessory dwelling unit is part of the existing primary unit or an existing accessory structure; provided that where an existing garage is converted into an accessory dwelling unit, the conversion shall not eliminate any required off-street parking for the primary unit.

(4) When off-street parking permits are required but not offered to the occupant of the accessory dwelling unit.

(5) When there is a dedicated parking space for a car share vehicle located within one block of the accessory dwelling unit.

(c) Height and Location. Accessory dwelling units may be within the primary living unit or within a separate building upon the same lot as the primary living unit.

(1) If within the primary living unit, the accessory dwelling unit may be located in any habitable area. If added to the existing primary living unit, the location of the accessory dwelling unit shall not create an additional story above the first floor.

(2) Accessory dwelling units newly constructed as such or added to an accessory building shall be limited to a single story with a maximum building height of eighteen feet at any point when measured from either existing or finished grade; when an accessory dwelling unit is located above a garage, the structure shall not exceed 25 feet.

(d) Setbacks. The setback requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16, 18.32 and 18.39 of this code shall apply to accessory dwelling units except in the following cases:

(1) No setback shall be required for an existing garage or accessory/detached building that is converted to an accessory dwelling unit provided it meets fire and building code requirements.

(2) An accessory dwelling unit constructed above a garage shall have a minimum setback of five feet.

(e) Lot Coverage. The lot coverage requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16 and 18.32 of this code shall apply to accessory dwelling units. Accessory dwelling units shall only be permitted on lots exceeding 5,000 square feet.

(f) Floor Area. The floor area ratio requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16, 18.32 and 18.39 of this code shall apply to accessory dwelling units, except that floor area shall not be a basis for denying an application to create an accessory dwelling unit within the primary unit or to convert an existing accessory structure into an accessory dwelling unit, provided that the accessory dwelling unit has independent exterior access. Once constructed, the accessory dwelling unit shall count as floor area pursuant to Chapter 18.12.

(g) Maximum Size. Accessory dwelling units shall not exceed one thousand square feet in floor area, excluding any covered parking area.

(h) Residence and Rental Requirements. A deed restriction shall be recorded prior to occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit that provides for the following:

(1) The property shall remain owner-occupied, with the owner occupying either the primary unit or the accessory dwelling unit.

(2) The accessory dwelling unit may be rented, but it may not be sold separately from the primary residence.

(3) The accessory dwelling unit shall not be rented for less than 30 consecutive days.

(h) Health and Safety.

(1) Accessory dwelling units must, at a minimum, adhere to the fire safety standards in the Building and Fire Code for residential structures and use measures such as fire preventative site design, landscaping and building materials, and other required fire suppression

techniques as determined by the director of public safety. Accessory dwelling units shall not be required to provide fire sprinklers if they are not required for the primary residence.

(2) Accessory dwelling units proposed to be developed in areas of geologic hazard must not be endangered by, nor contribute to, hazardous conditions on the site or on adjoining properties.

(3) If the accessory dwelling unit proposed to be developed is in a Special Flood Hazard Area identified on the town Flood Insurance Rate Map and/or in an area known for flooding, the finished floor level of the improvements shall be above the base flood elevation.

(i) **Building Permits and Codes.** In addition to the provisions herein, accessory dwelling unit construction shall be subject to all applicable provisions and requirements of Title 15 of this code.

#### 18.42.060 Design standards for accessory dwelling units.

(a) **Preservation of Existing Site Conditions.** All areas disturbed by construction of a accessory dwelling unit must be finished to a natural appearing configuration and planted or seeded to prevent erosion.

(b) **Relationship Between Structure and Site.** All new accessory dwelling units constructed on sloping land shall be designed to relate to the natural land forms and step with the slope in order to minimize building mass, bulk, and height and to better integrate the structure with the site.

(c) **Materials and Colors.** Accessory dwelling unit construction shall be of the same exterior materials, color, and style as that of the primary living unit including roof, eaves, windows, and doors.

(d) **Exterior Lighting.** Any lighting installed as part of a second residential unit project shall be shielded and directed downward. Lighting shall be low wattage and incandescent.

(e) **Natural Environment.** All secondary unit construction shall be subject to the tree protection provisions and regulations included in Chapter 12.24 of this code.

(f) **Landscaping.** Landscaping shall include such plantings as necessary to screen the appearance of structures as seen from off-site locations and to screen architectural and mechanical elements such as foundations, retaining walls, condensers, and transformers.

(g) **Visual Focus.** Where visibility exists from adjacent roadways, no accessory dwelling unit shall be located between the adjacent roadway and the primary living unit.

18.42.062 Exceptions to standards for accessory dwelling units. At its discretion, the town council may grant exceptions to the number of accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel as set forth in Section 18.42.035, the development standards regulating accessory dwelling unit height and location as set forth in Section 18.42.050(b), and accessory dwelling unit size as set forth in Section 18.42.050(f).

(a) Exception to Number of Accessory Dwelling Units. The town council may grant an exception to the number of accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel to permit two accessory dwelling units on a parcel or lot, provided the parcel or lot is at least one acre in size.

(b) Exception to Height. The town council may grant an accessory dwelling unit height increase to two stories with a maximum building height of thirty feet at any point when measured from either existing or finished grade, whichever is lower.

(c) Exception to Location. The town council may grant an exception to the location standard to allow a newly constructed accessory dwelling unit above an existing first floor.

(d) Exception to Size. The town council may grant an accessory dwelling unit size increase to 1,200 square feet.

(e) The town council may grant an exception enumerated above if the exception complies with the design review criteria and standards of Section 18.41.100 and the town council makes the following findings:

(1) The exception will not create a significant adverse impact on any adjacent property, the surrounding neighborhood, or the general public good.

(2) The lot and the arrangement of existing and proposed physical improvements on the lot can accommodate the exception without adversely affecting the views, privacy, or access to light and air of neighboring properties.

(3) Any modifications to site drainage shall be designed by a licensed engineer and shall result in no net increase to the rate or volume of peak runoff from the site compared to pre-project conditions. Any new mechanical pumps or equipment shall not create noise that is audible off site.

(4) The fire chief has confirmed that there is adequate water supply for firefighting purposes for the site, or that the project includes measures to provide adequate water supply for firefighting purposes.

18.42.065 Rent-restricted accessory dwelling units. At its discretion, the town council may grant an exception to the floor area requirement as set forth in Section 18.42.050(f) if the owner agrees to occupy or rent a newly constructed accessory dwelling unit as a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit, if the accessory dwelling unit is not located on a hillside area as defined in Section 18.39.020(a), and if the town council makes specific findings of fact as set forth in this section.

(a) Exception to Floor Area. The town council may grant a floor area bonus of up to 500 square feet if the newly constructed accessory dwelling unit is to be rent-restricted for a very low income household. Any floor area exception shall only apply to the area of a new accessory dwelling unit and shall not be granted to allow an addition to the primary residence or traded off for an addition to the primary residence in the future.

(b) The town council may grant a floor area exception if the exception complies with the design review criteria and standards of Section 18.41.100 and the town council makes the

following findings:

(1) The exception will not create a significant adverse impact on any adjacent property, the surrounding neighborhood, or the general public good.

(2) The lot and the arrangement of existing and proposed physical improvements on the lot can accommodate the exception without adversely affecting the views, privacy, or access to light and air of neighboring properties.

(3) Any modifications to site drainage shall be designed by a licensed engineer and shall result in no net increase to the rate or volume of peak runoff from the site compared to pre-project conditions. Any new mechanical pumps or equipment shall not create noise that is audible off site.

(4) The fire chief has confirmed that there is adequate water supply for firefighting purposes for the site, or that the project includes measures to provide adequate water supply for firefighting purposes.

(c) Declaration of Rent Restrictions. The owner shall submit a signed Declaration of Rent Restrictions, to be recorded before or concurrently with, and as a condition of, issuance of the rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit, reflecting the rent restriction. The Town shall provide the form of such Declaration.

(d) Affordable Rent Certification. An owner who has executed a Declaration shall submit to the Town an Accessory Dwelling Unit Affordable Rent Certification on an annual basis, effective each December 31 and as part of the annual Town business license application and renewal, and upon any change in occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit, specifying whether or not the accessory dwelling unit is being occupied, the rent charged, the utilities included in the cost of rent, the household size of the accessory dwelling unit, the names and ages of the accessory dwelling unit occupants, the gross household income of the accessory dwelling unit household, and other information as determined appropriate by the Town. The Town shall provide the form of the Certification to be signed under penalty of perjury by both the owner and the tenant, if any.

(e) Termination of Rent-Restricted Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit. At its discretion, the town council may grant an owner's request to terminate a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit. The town council shall consider the length of time such permit has been in force, the conditions of approval, the exceptions granted for the permit, and the impact on the town's affordable housing supply. In no case shall such permit be terminated prior to 20 years from the date of town council approval under this section. As a condition of termination, the town council shall require the owner to make modifications to the property to comply with current building code requirements and to comply with the planning code requirements in effect at the time the exception(s) was granted or obtain a variance from such requirements.

18.42.070 Administration and Enforcement. (a) Any exception request that does not comply with the prescribed limitations set forth in this chapter shall require a variance, pursuant to Chapter 18.48.

(b) Nonconforming accessory dwelling units.

(1) Nonconforming accessory dwelling units previously granted a conditional use permit or administrative approval may continue in use subject to the conditions of their original approval and the provisions of Chapter 18.44 of this code.

(2) It is declared that any non-conforming accessory dwelling unit not previously granted a conditional use permit and not given conforming status prior to June 1, 2012 or issued a certificate of conformity, shall constitute a public nuisance, and such nuisance may be abated as provided by law.

(c) Inactive applications. Consistent with state law, the town planner may administratively deny without prejudice any application which remains incomplete or inactive for a period of greater than ninety days, or is continued at the applicant's request for more than sixty days.

(d) Violation. An illegal accessory dwelling unit is an accessory dwelling unit which is not an approved accessory dwelling unit or is in violation of the Declaration of Deed Restrictions or the Declaration of Rent Restrictions. The Town Manager is authorized to pursue any remedies provided by law against the owner of an illegal accessory dwelling unit or an accessory dwelling unit not maintained in conformance with this Chapter, including:

(1) General. Those remedies set forth in Chapters 9.04 and 18.64 of this code;

(2) Costs. In any civil enforcement action, administrative or judicial, the Town is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees and costs from an owner who is determined to have an illegal accessory dwelling unit;

(3) Revocation of the Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit;

(4) Citations issued pursuant to the Administrative Citation Procedure authorized by California Government Code, Section 53069.4;

(5) Deed Restriction/Contract. Any liquidated damages or stipulated penalties authorized under any deed restriction or contract executed by the owner as a condition of the issuance of the accessory dwelling unit permit.

(e) Enforcement. Failure to comply in any way with the provisions of this chapter, approved plans, or conditions for application approval constitutes grounds for the town to immediately stop work related to the noncompliance until the matter is resolved or require that the noncompliance be remediated. Such violation will be subject to the enforcement penalties and procedures of Chapters 9.04 and 18.64 of this code."

**SECTION 3.** CEQA. The Town Council hereby finds that this Ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") pursuant to Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 15282(h) of the California Code of Regulations. A Notice of Exemption will be prepared.

**SECTION 4.** Severability. If any sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance. The Town Council hereby declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each sentence, clause or phrase thereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more sentence, clauses or phrases be declared unconstitutional or otherwise invalid.

**SECTION 5.** Savings Clause. Neither the adoption of this Ordinance nor the repeal or amendment by this Ordinance of any ordinance or part or portion of any ordinance previously in effect in the Town, or within the territory comprising the Town, shall in any manner affect the prosecution for the violation of any ordinance, which violation was committed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance, nor be construed as a waiver of any license, fee or penalty or the penal provisions applicable to any violation of such ordinances.

**SECTION 6.** Certification. The Town Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this Ordinance and shall cause this Ordinance to be posted within 15 days after its passage, in accordance with Section 36933 of the Government Code.

**SECTION 7:** Effective Date. This urgency ordinance shall go into effect immediately upon adoption, and shall be posted in three public places in Town.

THE FOREGOING URGENCY ORDINANCE was adopted at a regular meeting of the Ross Town Council on the \_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2016 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

\_\_\_\_\_  
Kathleen Hoertkorn, Mayor

ATTEST:

\_\_\_\_\_  
Linda Lopez, Town Clerk

## ATTACHMENT 2



**TOWN OF ROSS**

**ORDINANCE NO. 679**

**AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF ROSS AMENDING  
CHAPTER 18.42 OF THE TOWN OF ROSS MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING  
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS (SECOND UNITS)**

The Town Council of the Town of Ross does ordain as follows:

**SECTION 1:** Section 18.16.050 of the Ross Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

“18.16.050 Minimum yard requirements. Minimum front yards and rear yards in residential districts shall be as follows:

R-1	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-6 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-7.5 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-10 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-15 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-20 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-A districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-5 A districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	70 feet;
R-1:B-10 A districts,	front:	35 feet;	rear yards:	70 feet.

Minimum side yards in R-1 districts shall be fifteen feet.

Private garages, used only for garage purposes, may be located in the rear of a lot if set back from the rear line of any dwelling and at least ten feet from the side and rear property lines. Except as provided in Chapter 18.42, private garages located within any requisite setback are prohibited from being converted to any other use than parking.”

**SECTION 2:** Chapter 18.42 “Second Units” of the Ross Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Chapter 18.42

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS”

Sections:

18.42.010	Purpose.
18.42.020	Definitions.
18.42.030	Applicability.
18.42.035	Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit Required.
18.42.045	Permit Application and Procedures.
18.42.050	Standards for Accessory Dwelling Units.

- 18.42.060 Design Review of Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.062 Exceptions to Standards for Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.065 Rent-Restricted Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.070 Administration and Enforcement.

18.42.010 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to establish a procedure for the development of new accessory dwelling units that will comply with California Government Code Section 65852.2, ensure safe and healthy living environments, and encourage well-designed legal accessory dwelling units in all residential neighborhoods as an important way to provide workforce and special needs housing. One of the purposes of this chapter is to help achieve the goals and policies of the adopted Housing Element of the Town of Ross General Plan by encouraging a mix of housing types affordable to all economic segments of the community. It is the intent of this chapter to expand the availability of accessory dwelling units in the town.

18.42.020 Definitions. For the purposes of this chapter the following words have the following definitions:

“Accessory dwelling unit” (or “second unit”) means an attached or detached residential dwelling unit which provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. It shall include a kitchen as defined herein, as well as permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same parcel where the single-family dwelling is situated. An accessory dwelling unit also includes an efficiency unit as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 17958.1 and a manufactured home as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 18007.

“Affordable rent level” means that the accessory dwelling unit household’s monthly cost of rent, plus the cost of electricity, gas, water and sewer service, and garbage collection (hereinafter “utilities”) is 30% or less than the upper limit of the annual gross household income, divided by 12, for a specified income category and household size as last published by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (hereinafter “HCD”). The Town shall determine maximum affordable rent levels for rent-restricted accessory dwelling units following the annual publication of the State Income Limits by HCD. In determining rent levels, the household size for rent-restricted accessory dwelling units shall be: studio, 1 person; one-bedroom, 2 persons; two-bedroom, 3 persons; and, three-bedroom, 4 persons. The cost of utilities for the accessory dwelling unit shall be included in the affordable rent level. For rent-restricted accessory dwelling units where utilities are separately metered and billed, and where the accessory dwelling unit household is responsible for the costs of that household’s use of utilities, the maximum rent shall be set at 90% of the affordable rent level. “Gross household income” means the total monies earned or received by all members of a household age 18 and over, including: wages and all types of compensation, before any payroll deductions; spousal and child support; social security, retirement, disability, insurance, and other types of periodic payments; unemployment compensation and other payments in-lieu of earnings; welfare and other public assistance; interest, dividends and other payments generated from any real or personal property; net business income; and, any other type of payment determined to qualify as income by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and as published in the HUD’s Housing Choice Voucher Program Guidebook. The annual gross household income is calculated by multiplying the monthly amounts earned or received at the time of certification by 12 and adjusting for anticipated payments and changes in amounts over the next 12 months.

“Household” means those persons who collectively occupy a housing unit. A property

owner's household shall include any child or dependent, as defined in section 152 of the Internal Revenue Code, of the property owner who is under the age of 18 or is under the age of 24 and is a full-time student.

“Household size” means the number of persons in a household.

“Kitchen” shall mean a room or portion thereof containing permanent facilities designed and used for food preparation, cooking, eating and dish washing. A kitchen shall include all of the following: a sink with hot and cold running water; a range or stove and oven; at a minimum, an apartment-sized refrigerator; and built-in dish and utensil storage spaces. A kitchen may also include any of the following: microwave, convection oven, hot plate or automatic dish washer.

“Nonconforming accessory dwelling unit” means an accessory dwelling unit approved as an accessory dwelling unit or second unit through the issuance of a conditional use permit or an accessory dwelling unit that meets the definition of an accessory dwelling unit and was occupied prior to the adoption of accessory dwelling unit or second unit regulations without a conditional use permit. The planning director shall determine the status of such units in accordance with the provisions of this code.

“Primary residential unit” or “primary residence” means the dwelling having the largest floor area located on any one lot or parcel within a single-family residential zoning district. Such primary residential unit is further defined as a building that provides complete, independent living facilities for one or more persons and permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation.

“Rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit” means an accessory dwelling unit that is approved under a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit. A rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit shall only be rented to a very low income household at an affordable rent level or occupied by an owner whose household qualifies as a very low income household.

“Rent” means to enter into an agreement whereby the occupant(s) of the accessory dwelling unit makes a monetary payment or exchange of goods or services in consideration of occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit.

“Accessory dwelling unit affordable rent certification” means documentation and certification that an accessory dwelling unit is being rented to a very low income household at an affordable rent level or is exclusively being occupied by an owner whose household qualifies as a very low income household. Required information for documentation and certification shall include the rent charged, the utilities included in the monthly rent, the household size of the accessory dwelling unit, the names and ages of the accessory dwelling unit occupants, and the gross household income of the accessory dwelling unit household.

“Single family residential zoning district” means a district listed in this code that allows one single-family dwelling on a particular lot or parcel, otherwise known as an “R-1” zoning district.

“Very low income household” means a household with an annual gross household income of 50% or less than the Marin County median annual gross household income for that household size as last published by HCD.

18.42.030 Applicability. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all nonconforming accessory dwelling units and to all accessory dwelling units hereinafter approved or constructed. .

18.42.035 Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit Required. An accessory dwelling unit is allowed on any parcel in a single-family residential zoning district with a primary unit, subject to the issuance of an accessory dwelling unit permit. No more than one accessory dwelling unit per lot or parcel shall be permitted except as provided in Section 18.42.062(a).

18.42.045 Permit Application and Procedures.

(a) Accessory Dwelling Unit Subject to Administrative Review.

(1) Application. An owner may apply for an accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(2) Decision. The town planner shall consider the application without discretionary review, public notice, or a hearing. The town planner shall approve the application if he or she determines that the application meets all of the requirements and standards in Section 18.42.050 and Section 18.42.060. The town planner shall deny the application if he or she determines that it does not meet all of such requirements. The town planner's decision shall be in writing and shall state the reasons for approval or denial. The town planner's decision shall be final.

(b) Accessory Dwelling Unit Subject to Town Council Review.

(1) General. The town council may grant discretionary exceptions to the development standards regulating the number of accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel and accessory dwelling unit height, location, size and floor area as set forth in Sections 18.42.062 and 18.42.065.

(2) Application – accessory dwelling unit permit. Where an owner seeks an exception to the development standards pursuant to Sections 18.42.062, the owner may apply for an accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(3) Application – rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit. Where an owner seeks an exception to the floor area requirement as set forth in Section 18.42.050(e), the owner may apply for a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(4) Hearing. The town council shall hold a public hearing on the application.

(5) Decision. The town council shall approve or deny the application in accordance with the provisions of Section 18.42.062 or Section 18.42.065. The town council shall make its determination on the individual merit of each application without following or

establishing precedent. The town council shall not approve an application unless it makes specific findings of fact as provided in Section 18.42.062 or Section 18.42.065.

18.42.050 Standards for accessory dwelling units.

(a) Parking. One parking space shall be provided for each bedroom provided by the accessory dwelling unit in addition to those required for the primary unit.

(1) The location of the required parking space(s) shall not obstruct the parking of the primary unit. The required parking space(s) may be in tandem and within the setback areas but shall be screened from public view.

(2) When a garage, carport, or covered parking structure is demolished in conjunction with the construction of an accessory dwelling unit, the off-street parking spaces shall be replaced. The replacement parking spaces may be located in another configuration on the same lot as the accessory dwelling unit and may be covered, uncovered, or tandem spaces.

(b) Off-street parking is not required for an accessory dwelling unit in any of the following instances:

(1) The accessory dwelling unit is located within one-half mile of public transit.

(2) The accessory dwelling unit is located within a historic district.

(3) The accessory dwelling unit is part of the existing primary unit or an existing accessory structure; provided that where an existing garage is converted into an accessory dwelling unit, the conversion shall not eliminate any required off-street parking for the primary unit.

(4) When off-street parking permits are required but not offered to the occupant of the accessory dwelling unit.

(5) When there is a dedicated parking space for a car share vehicle located within one block of the accessory dwelling unit.

(c) Height and Location. Accessory dwelling units may be within the primary living unit or within a separate building upon the same lot as the primary living unit.

(1) If within the primary living unit, the accessory dwelling unit may be located in any habitable area. If added to the existing primary living unit, the location of the accessory dwelling unit shall not create an additional story above the first floor.

(2) Accessory dwelling units newly constructed as such or added to an accessory building shall be limited to a single story with a maximum building height of eighteen feet at any point when measured from either existing or finished grade; when an accessory dwelling unit is located above a garage, the structure shall not exceed 25 feet.

(d) **Setbacks.** The setback requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16, 18.32 and 18.39 of this code shall apply to accessory dwelling units except in the following cases:

(1) No setback shall be required for an existing garage or accessory/detached building that is converted to an accessory dwelling unit provided it meets fire and building code requirements.

(2) An accessory dwelling unit constructed above a garage shall have a minimum setback of five feet.

(e) **Lot Coverage.** The lot coverage requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16 and 18.32 of this code shall apply to accessory dwelling units. Accessory dwelling units shall only be permitted on lots exceeding 5,000 square feet.

(f) **Floor Area.** The floor area ratio requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16, 18.32 and 18.39 of this code shall apply to accessory dwelling units, except that floor area shall not be a basis for denying an application to create an accessory dwelling unit within the primary unit or to convert an existing accessory structure into an accessory dwelling unit, provided that the accessory dwelling unit has independent exterior access. Once constructed, the accessory dwelling unit shall count as floor area pursuant to Chapter 18.12.

(g) **Maximum Size.** Accessory dwelling units shall not exceed one thousand square feet in floor area, excluding any covered parking area.

(h) **Residence and Rental Requirements.** A deed restriction shall be recorded prior to occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit that provides for the following:

(1) The property shall remain owner-occupied, with the owner occupying either the primary unit or the accessory dwelling unit.

(2) The accessory dwelling unit may be rented, but it may not be sold separately from the primary residence.

(3) The accessory dwelling unit shall not be rented for less than 30 consecutive days.

(h) **Health and Safety.**

(1) Accessory dwelling units must, at a minimum, adhere to the fire safety standards in the Building and Fire Code for residential structures and use measures such as fire preventative site design, landscaping and building materials, and other required fire suppression techniques as determined by the director of public safety. Accessory dwelling units shall not be required to provide fire sprinklers if they are not required for the primary residence.

(2) Accessory dwelling units proposed to be developed in areas of geologic hazard must not be endangered by, nor contribute to, hazardous conditions on the site or on adjoining properties.

(3) If the accessory dwelling unit proposed to be developed is in a Special Flood Hazard Area identified on the town Flood Insurance Rate Map and/or in an area known for flooding, the finished floor level of the improvements shall be above the base flood elevation.

(i) **Building Permits and Codes.** In addition to the provisions herein, accessory dwelling unit construction shall be subject to all applicable provisions and requirements of Title 15 of this code.

18.42.060 Design standards for accessory dwelling units.

(a) **Preservation of Existing Site Conditions.** All areas disturbed by construction of a accessory dwelling unit must be finished to a natural appearing configuration and planted or seeded to prevent erosion.

(b) **Relationship Between Structure and Site.** All new accessory dwelling units constructed on sloping land shall be designed to relate to the natural land forms and step with the slope in order to minimize building mass, bulk, and height and to better integrate the structure with the site.

(c) **Materials and Colors.** Accessory dwelling unit construction shall be of the same exterior materials, color, and style as that of the primary living unit including roof, eaves, windows, and doors.

(d) **Exterior Lighting.** Any lighting installed as part of a second residential unit project shall be shielded and directed downward. Lighting shall be low wattage and incandescent.

(e) **Natural Environment.** All secondary unit construction shall be subject to the tree protection provisions and regulations included in Chapter 12.24 of this code.

(f) **Landscaping.** Landscaping shall include such plantings as necessary to screen the appearance of structures as seen from off-site locations and to screen architectural and mechanical elements such as foundations, retaining walls, condensers, and transformers.

(g) **Visual Focus.** Where visibility exists from adjacent roadways, no accessory dwelling unit shall be located between the adjacent roadway and the primary living unit.

18.42.062 Exceptions to standards for accessory dwelling units. At its discretion, the town council may grant exceptions to the number of accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel as set forth in Section 18.42.035, the development standards regulating accessory dwelling unit height and location as set forth in Section 18.42.050(b), and accessory dwelling unit size as set forth in Section 18.42.050(f).

(a) **Exception to Number of Accessory Dwelling Units.** The town council may grant an exception to the number of accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel to permit two accessory dwelling units on a parcel or lot, provided the parcel or lot is at least one acre in size.

(b) **Exception to Height.** The town council may grant an accessory dwelling unit height increase to two stories with a maximum building height of thirty feet at any point when measured from either existing or finished grade, whichever is lower.

(c) Exception to Location. The town council may grant an exception to the location standard to allow a newly constructed accessory dwelling unit above an existing first floor.

(d) Exception to Size. The town council may grant an accessory dwelling unit size increase to 1,200 square feet.

(e) The town council may grant an exception enumerated above if the exception complies with the design review criteria and standards of Section 18.41.100 and the town council makes the following findings:

(1) The exception will not create a significant adverse impact on any adjacent property, the surrounding neighborhood, or the general public good.

(2) The lot and the arrangement of existing and proposed physical improvements on the lot can accommodate the exception without adversely affecting the views, privacy, or access to light and air of neighboring properties.

(3) Any modifications to site drainage shall be designed by a licensed engineer and shall result in no net increase to the rate or volume of peak runoff from the site compared to pre-project conditions. Any new mechanical pumps or equipment shall not create noise that is audible off site.

(4) The fire chief has confirmed that there is adequate water supply for firefighting purposes for the site, or that the project includes measures to provide adequate water supply for firefighting purposes.

18.42.065 Rent-restricted accessory dwelling units. At its discretion, the town council may grant an exception to the floor area requirement as set forth in Section 18.42.050(f) if the owner agrees to occupy or rent a newly constructed accessory dwelling unit as a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit, if the accessory dwelling unit is not located on a hillside area as defined in Section 18.39.020(a), and if the town council makes specific findings of fact as set forth in this section.

(a) Exception to Floor Area. The town council may grant a floor area bonus of up to 500 square feet if the newly constructed accessory dwelling unit is to be rent-restricted for a very low income household. Any floor area exception shall only apply to the area of a new accessory dwelling unit and shall not be granted to allow an addition to the primary residence or traded off for an addition to the primary residence in the future.

(b) The town council may grant a floor area exception if the exception complies with the design review criteria and standards of Section 18.41.100 and the town council makes the following findings:

(1) The exception will not create a significant adverse impact on any adjacent property, the surrounding neighborhood, or the general public good.

(2) The lot and the arrangement of existing and proposed physical improvements on the lot can accommodate the exception without adversely affecting the views,



privacy, or access to light and air of neighboring properties.

(3) Any modifications to site drainage shall be designed by a licensed engineer and shall result in no net increase to the rate or volume of peak runoff from the site compared to pre-project conditions. Any new mechanical pumps or equipment shall not create noise that is audible off site.

(4) The fire chief has confirmed that there is adequate water supply for firefighting purposes for the site, or that the project includes measures to provide adequate water supply for firefighting purposes.

(c) Declaration of Rent Restrictions. The owner shall submit a signed Declaration of Rent Restrictions, to be recorded before or concurrently with, and as a condition of, issuance of the rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit, reflecting the rent restriction. The Town shall provide the form of such Declaration.

(d) Affordable Rent Certification. An owner who has executed a Declaration shall submit to the Town an Accessory Dwelling Unit Affordable Rent Certification on an annual basis, effective each December 31 and as part of the annual Town business license application and renewal, and upon any change in occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit, specifying whether or not the accessory dwelling unit is being occupied, the rent charged, the utilities included in the cost of rent, the household size of the accessory dwelling unit, the names and ages of the accessory dwelling unit occupants, the gross household income of the accessory dwelling unit household, and other information as determined appropriate by the Town. The Town shall provide the form of the Certification to be signed under penalty of perjury by both the owner and the tenant, if any.

(e) Termination of Rent-Restricted Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit. At its discretion, the town council may grant an owner's request to terminate a rent-restricted accessory dwelling unit permit. The town council shall consider the length of time such permit has been in force, the conditions of approval, the exceptions granted for the permit, and the impact on the town's affordable housing supply. In no case shall such permit be terminated prior to 20 years from the date of town council approval under this section. As a condition of termination, the town council shall require the owner to make modifications to the property to comply with current building code requirements and to comply with the planning code requirements in effect at the time the exception(s) was granted or obtain a variance from such requirements.

18.42.070 Administration and Enforcement. (a) Any exception request that does not comply with the prescribed limitations set forth in this chapter shall require a variance, pursuant to Chapter 18.48.

(b) Nonconforming accessory dwelling units.

(1) Nonconforming accessory dwelling units previously granted a conditional use permit or administrative approval may continue in use subject to the conditions of their original approval and the provisions of Chapter 18.44 of this code.

(2) It is declared that any non-conforming accessory dwelling unit not previously granted a conditional use permit and not given conforming status prior to June 1, 2012 or issued

a certificate of conformity, shall constitute a public nuisance, and such nuisance may be abated as provided by law.

(c) Inactive applications. Consistent with state law, the town planner may administratively deny without prejudice any application which remains incomplete or inactive for a period of greater than ninety days, or is continued at the applicant's request for more than sixty days.

(d) Violation. An illegal accessory dwelling unit is an accessory dwelling unit which is not an approved accessory dwelling unit or is in violation of the Declaration of Deed Restrictions or the Declaration of Rent Restrictions. The Town Manager is authorized to pursue any remedies provided by law against the owner of an illegal accessory dwelling unit or an accessory dwelling unit not maintained in conformance with this Chapter, including:

(1) General. Those remedies set forth in Chapters 9.04 and 18.64 of this code;

(2) Costs. In any civil enforcement action, administrative or judicial, the Town is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees and costs from an owner who is determined to have an illegal accessory dwelling unit;

(3) Revocation of the Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit;

(4) Citations issued pursuant to the Administrative Citation Procedure authorized by California Government Code, Section 53069.4;

(5) Deed Restriction/Contract. Any liquidated damages or stipulated penalties authorized under any deed restriction or contract executed by the owner as a condition of the issuance of the accessory dwelling unit permit.

(e) Enforcement. Failure to comply in any way with the provisions of this chapter, approved plans, or conditions for application approval constitutes grounds for the town to immediately stop work related to the noncompliance until the matter is resolved or require that the noncompliance be remediated. Such violation will be subject to the enforcement penalties and procedures of Chapters 9.04 and 18.64 of this code."

**SECTION 3.** CEQA. The Town Council hereby finds that this Ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") pursuant to Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 15282(h) of the California Code of Regulations. A Notice of Exemption will be prepared.

**SECTION 4.** Severability. If any sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance. The Town Council hereby declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each sentence, clause or phrase thereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more sentence, clauses or phrases be declared unconstitutional or otherwise invalid.

**SECTION 5.** Savings Clause. Neither the adoption of this Ordinance nor the repeal or amendment by this Ordinance of any ordinance or part or portion of any ordinance previously in effect in the Town, or within the territory comprising the Town, shall in any manner affect the prosecution for the violation of any ordinance, which violation was committed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance, nor be construed as a waiver of any license, fee or penalty or the penal provisions applicable to any violation of such ordinances.

**SECTION 6.** Certification. The Town Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this Ordinance and shall cause this Ordinance to be posted within 15 days after its passage, in accordance with Section 36933 of the Government Code.

**SECTION 7:** Effective Date. This urgency ordinance shall go into effect on midnight of the 30<sup>th</sup> day after final passage and adoption, and shall be posted in three public places in Town.

THE FOREGOING ORDINANCE was adopted at a regular meeting of the Ross Town Council on the \_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2016 by the following vote:

AYES:

NOES:

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN:

---

Kathleen Hoertkorn, Mayor

ATTEST:

---

Linda Lopez, Town Clerk

# ATTACHMENT 3

**REDLINE VERSION OF CODE AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTERS 18.16 AND 18.42**

CH 18.16

**SECTION 1:** Section 18.16.050 of the Ross Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

“18.16.050 Minimum yard requirements. Minimum front yards and rear yards in residential districts shall be as follows:

R-1	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-6 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-7.5 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-10 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-15 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-20 districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-A districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	40 feet;
R-1:B-5 A districts,	front:	25 feet;	rear yards:	70 feet;
R-1:B-10 A districts,	front:	35 feet;	rear yards:	70 feet.

Minimum side yards in R-1 districts shall be fifteen feet.

Private garages, used only for garage purposes, may be located in the rear of a lot if set back from the rear line of any dwelling and at least ten feet from the side and rear property lines. Except as provided in Chapter 18.42, private garages located within any requisite setback are prohibited from being converted to any other use than parking.

Chapter 18.42

RESIDENTIAL SECOND ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Sections:

- 18.42.010 Purpose.
- 18.42.020 Definitions.
- 18.42.030 Applicability.
- 18.42.035 Residential Second Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit Required.
- 18.42.045 Permit Application and Procedures.
- 18.42.050 Standards for Residential Second Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.060 Design Review of Residential Second Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.062 Exceptions to Standards for Residential Second Accessory Dwelling

Units.

- 18.42.065 Rent-Restricted Second Accessory Dwelling Units.
- 18.42.070 Administration and Enforcement.

18.42.010 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to establish a procedure for the development of new residential second accessory dwelling units that will comply with California Government Code Section 65852.2, ensure safe and healthy living environments, and to encourage well-designed legal second accessory dwelling units in all residential neighborhoods

as an important way to provide workforce and special needs housing. One of the purposes of this chapter is to help achieve the goals and policies of the adopted Housing Element of the Town of Ross General Plan by encouraging a mix of housing types affordable to all economic segments of the community. It is the intent of this chapter to expand the availability of second accessory dwelling units in the town. (Ord. 625 (part), 2011; Ord. 578 §8(part), 2003).

18.42.020 Definitions. For the purposes of this chapter the following words have the following definitions:

“Accessory Dwelling Unit” (or “Second Unit”) means an attached or detached residential dwelling unit which provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. It shall include a kitchen as defined herein, as well as permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same parcel where the single-family dwelling is situated. An accessory dwelling unit also includes an efficiency unit as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 17958.1 and a manufactured home as defined in Health and Safety Code Section 18007.

“Affordable rent level” means that the second accessory dwelling unit household’s monthly cost of rent, plus the cost of electricity, gas, water and sewer service, and garbage collection (hereinafter “utilities”) is 30% or less than the upper limit of the annual gross household income, divided by 12, for a specified income category and household size as last published by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (hereinafter “HCD”). The Town shall determine maximum affordable rent levels for rent-restricted second accessory dwelling units following the annual publication of the State Income Limits by HCD. In determining rent levels, the household size for rent-restricted second accessory dwelling units shall be: studio, 1 person; one-bedroom, 2 persons; two-bedroom, 3 persons; and, three-bedroom, 4 persons. The cost of utilities for the second accessory dwelling unit shall be included in the affordable rent level. For rent-restricted second accessory dwelling units where utilities are separately metered and billed, and where the second accessory dwelling unit household is responsible for the costs of that household’s use of utilities, the maximum rent shall be set at 90% of the affordable rent level. “Gross household income” means the total monies earned or received by all members of a household age 18 and over, including: wages and all types of compensation, before any payroll deductions; spousal and child support; social security, retirement, disability, insurance, and other types of periodic payments; unemployment compensation and other payments in-lieu of earnings; welfare and other public assistance; interest, dividends and other payments generated from any real or personal property; net business income; and, any other type of payment determined to qualify as income by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and as published in the HUD’s Housing Choice Voucher Program Guidebook. The annual gross household income is calculated by multiplying the monthly amounts earned or received at the time of certification by 12 and adjusting for anticipated payments and changes in amounts over the next 12 months.

“Household” means those persons who collectively occupy a housing unit. A property owner’s household shall include any child or dependent, as defined in section 152 of the Internal Revenue Code, of the property owner who is under the age of 18 or is under the age of 24 and is a full-time student.

“Household size” means the number of persons in a household.

“Kitchen” shall mean a room or portion thereof containing permanent facilities designed and used for food preparation, cooking, eating and dish washing. A kitchen shall include all of the following: a sink with hot and cold running water; a range or stove and oven; at a minimum, an apartment-sized refrigerator; and built-in dish and utensil storage spaces. A kitchen may also include any of the following: microwave, convection oven, hot plate or automatic dish washer.

“Nonconforming residential secondaccessory dwelling unit” means an residential accessory dwelling unit approved as an accessory dwelling unit or second unit through the issuance of a conditional use permit or an second-accessory dwelling unit that meets the definition of an residential-secondaccessory dwelling unit and was occupied prior to the adoption of accessory dwelling unit or this ordinance second unit regulations without a conditional use permit. The planning director shall determine the status of such units in accordance with the provisions of this code.

“Primary residential unit” means the dwelling having the largest floor area located on any one lot or parcel within a single-family residential zoning district. Such primary residential unit is further defined as a building that provides complete, independent living facilities for one or more persons and permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation.

“Rent-restricted second-accessory dwelling unit” means an residential-secondaccessory dwelling unit that is approved under a rent-restricted second-accessory dwelling unit permit. A rent-restricted second-accessory dwelling unit shall only be rented to a very low income household at an affordable rent level or occupied by an owner whose household qualifies as a very low income household.

“Rent” means to enter into an agreement whereby the occupant(s) of the residential secondaccessory dwelling unit makes any a monetary payment or exchange of goods or services in consideration of occupancy of the second-accessory dwelling unit.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"

“Residential-secondAccessory dwelling unit affordable rent certification” means documentation and certification that an residential-secondaccessory dwelling unit is being rented to a very low income household at an affordable rent level or is exclusively being occupied by an owner whose household qualifies as a very low income household. Required information for documentation and certification shall include the rent charged, the utilities included in the monthly rent, the household size of the residential-secondaccessory dwelling unit, the names and ages of the residential-secondaccessory dwelling unit occupants, and the gross household income of the residential-secondaccessory dwelling unit household.

“Single family residential zoning district” means a district listed in this code that allows one single-family dwelling on a particular lot or parcel, otherwise known as an “R-1” zoning district.

“Very low income household” means a household with an annual gross household income of 50% or less than the Marin County median annual gross household income for that household size as last published by HCD.

18.42.030 Applicability. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all nonconforming residential-secondaccessory dwelling units and to all residential-secondaccessory dwelling units hereinafter approved or constructed.

18.42.035 Residential Second Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit Required. An residential second accessory dwelling unit is allowed on any parcel in a single-family residential zoning district with a primary unit, subject to the issuance of an accessory dwelling unit second unit permit. No more than one residential second accessory dwelling unit per lot or parcel shall be permitted except as provided in Section 18.42.062(a).

18.42.045 Permit Application and Procedures.

(a) Residential Second Accessory Dwelling Unit Subject to Administrative Review.

(1) Application. An owner may apply for a residential second an accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(2) Decision. The town planner shall consider the application without discretionary review, public notice, or a hearing. The town planner shall approve the application only if he or she determines that the application meets all of the development requirements and standards in Section 18.42.050 and all of the design review standards in Section 18.42.060. The town planner shall deny the application if he or she determines that it does not meet all of such requirements standards. The town planner's decision shall be in writing and shall state the reasons for approval or denial. The town planner's decision shall be final.

~~(3) Appeal. A person may appeal the decision of the town planner in conformance with Chapter 18.60.~~

(b) Residential Second Accessory Dwelling Unit Subject to Town Council Review.

(1) General. The town council may grant discretionary exceptions to the development standards regulating the number of residential second accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel and residential second accessory dwelling unit height, location, size and floor area as set forth in Sections 18.42.062 and 18.42.065.

(2) Application – residential second accessory dwelling unit permit. Where an owner seeks an exception to the development standards pursuant to Sections 18.42.062, the owner may apply for an residential second accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(3) Application – rent-restricted residential second accessory dwelling unit permit. Where an owner seeks an exception to the floor area requirement as set forth in Section 18.42.050(e), the owner may apply for a rent-restricted residential second accessory dwelling unit permit by submitting an application to the town planner on a form provided by the Town. The application form shall specify the information required from applicants. The town council may establish a fee for the application.

(4) Hearing. The town council shall hold a public hearing on the application.

(5) Decision. The town council shall approve or deny the application in accordance with the provisions of Section 18.42.062 or Section 18.42.065. The town council shall make its determination on the individual merit of each application without following or



establishing precedent. The town council shall not approve an application unless it makes specific findings of fact as provided in Section 18.42.062 or Section 18.42.065.

18.42.050 Standards for residential second accessory dwelling units.

(a) Parking. One parking space shall be provided for each bedroom provided by the residential second accessory dwelling unit in addition to those required for the primary unit.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"

(1) The location of the required parking space(s) shall not obstruct the parking of the primary unit. The required parking space(s) may be in tandem and within the setback areas but shall be screened from public view.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 1"

(2) When a garage, carport, or covered parking structure is demolished in conjunction with the construction of an accessory dwelling unit, the off-street parking spaces shall be replaced. The replacement parking spaces may be located in another configuration on the same lot as the accessory dwelling unit and may be covered, uncovered, or tandem spaces.

(b) Off-street parking is not required for an accessory dwelling unit in any of the following instances:

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"

(1) The accessory dwelling unit is located within one-half mile of public transit.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", First line: 0"

(2) The accessory dwelling unit is located within a historic district.

(3) The accessory dwelling unit is part of the existing primary unit or an existing accessory structure; provided that where an existing garage is converted into an accessory dwelling unit, the conversion shall not eliminate any required off-street parking for the primary unit.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 1"

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", First line: 0"

(4) When off-street parking permits are required but not offered to the occupant of the accessory dwelling unit.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 1"

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", First line: 0"

(5) When there is a dedicated parking space for a car share vehicle located within one block of the accessory dwelling unit.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 1"

(cb) Height and Location. Residential second accessory dwelling units may be within the primary living unit or within a separate building upon the same lot as the primary living unit.

(1) If within the primary living unit, the second accessory dwelling unit may be located in any habitable area. If added to the existing primary living unit, the location of the second unit accessory dwelling unit shall not create an additional story above the first floor.

(2) Residential second accessory dwelling units newly constructed as such or added to an accessory building shall be limited to a single story with a maximum building height of eighteen feet at any point when measured from either existing or finished grade; when an accessory dwelling unit is located above a garage, the structure shall not exceed 25 feet.

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"

(de) **Setbacks.** The setback requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16, 18.32 and 18.39 of this code shall apply to residential-secondaccessory dwelling units except in the following cases:

(1) ~~No setback shall be required for an existing garage or accessory/detached building that is converted to an accessory dwelling unit provided it meets fire and building code requirements.~~

Formatted: Indent: First line: 1"

(2) ~~An accessory dwelling unit constructed above a garage shall have a minimum setback of five feet.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.25"

Formatted: Indent: First line: 1"

(ed) **Lot Coverage.** The lot coverage requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16 and 18.32 of this code shall apply to residential-secondaccessory dwelling units. ~~Accessory dwelling units shall only be permitted on lots exceeding 5,000 square feet.~~

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"

Commented [A1]: We can establish a minimum lot size – let me know what you'd like that to be.

(fe) **Floor Area.** The floor area ratio requirements enumerated under Chapters 18.16, 18.32 and 18.39 of this code shall apply to residential-secondaccessory dwelling units, ~~except that floor area shall not be a basis for denying an application to create an accessory dwelling unit within the primary unit or to convert an existing accessory structure into an accessory dwelling unit, provided that the accessory dwelling unit has independent exterior access. Once constructed, the accessory dwelling unit shall count as floor area pursuant to Chapter 18.12.~~

(gf) **Maximum Size.** Residential-secondAccessory dwelling units shall not exceed seven ~~hundredone thousand~~ square feet in floor area, excluding any covered parking area.

Commented [A2]: The statute states that ADUs shall not exceed 1,200 sf. We don't believe this prohibits cities from adopting maximum sizes that are less than that, but 700sf is much lower than other cities allow. I've adjusted this to reflect other Marin County city requirements

(hg) **Residence and Rental Requirements.** A deed restriction shall be recorded prior to occupancy of the accessory dwelling unit that provides for the following:

(1) ~~Approval of a residential-second unit is conditioned upon t~~The property shall remain owner-occupied, with the owner occupying either the ~~he~~ owner of record maintaining their residence upon the same parcel as that of the residential-second unit~~primary unit or the accessory dwelling unit.~~

Formatted: Indent: First line: 1"

(2) ~~The accessory dwelling unit may be rented, but it may not be sold separately from the primary residence.~~

(3) ~~The accessory dwelling unit shall not be rented for less than 30 consecutive days.~~

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"

(h) **Health and Safety.**

(1) Residential-secondAccessory dwelling units must, at a minimum, adhere to the fire safety standards in the Building and Fire Code for residential structures and use measures such as fire preventative site design, landscaping and building materials, and other **required** fire suppression techniques and resources as determined by the director of public safety. ~~Accessory dwelling units shall not be required to provide fire sprinklers if they are not required for the primary residence.~~

(2) Residential ~~second~~ Accessory dwelling units proposed to be developed in areas of geologic hazard must not be endangered by, nor contribute to, hazardous conditions on the site or on adjoining properties.

(3) If the residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling unit proposed to be developed is in a Special Flood Hazard Area identified on the town Flood Insurance Rate Map and/or in an area known for flooding, the finished floor level of the improvements shall be above the base flood elevation.

(i) Building Permits and Codes. In addition to the provisions herein, residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling unit construction shall be subject to all applicable provisions and requirements of Title 15 of this code.

18.42.060 Design review standards for ~~of residential second~~ accessory dwelling units.

(a) Preservation of Existing Site Conditions. All areas disturbed by construction of a residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling unit must be finished to a natural appearing configuration and planted or seeded to prevent erosion.

(b) Relationship Between Structure and Site. All new residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling units constructed on sloping land shall be designed to relate to the natural land forms and step with the slope in order to minimize building mass, bulk, and height and to better integrate the structure with the site.

Commented [A3]: Question whether this can be applied ministerially.

(c) Materials and Colors. Residential ~~second~~ Accessory dwelling unit construction shall be of the same exterior materials, color, and style as that of the primary living unit including roof, eaves, windows, and doors, and other detailing.

(d) Exterior Lighting. Any lighting installed as part of a second residential unit project shall be shielded and directed downward. Lighting shall be low wattage and incandescent.

(e) Natural Environment. All secondary unit construction shall be subject to the tree protection provisions and regulations included in Chapter 12.24 of this code.

(f) Landscaping. Landscaping shall include such plantings as necessary to screen the appearance of structures as seen from off-site locations and to screen architectural and mechanical elements such as foundations, retaining walls, condensers, and transformers.

(g) Visual Focus. Where visibility exists from adjacent roadways, no residential ~~second~~ uni accessory dwelling unit shall be located between the adjacent roadway and the primary living unit. (Ord. 578 §8(part), 2003).

18.42.062 Exceptions to standards for residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling units. At its discretion, the town council may grant exceptions to the number of residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling units permitted on a lot or parcel as set forth in Section 18.42.035, the development standards regulating residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling unit height and location as set forth in Section 18.42.050(b), and residential ~~second~~ accessory dwelling unit size as set forth in Section 18.42.050(f).

(a) Exception to Number of Residential ~~Second~~ Accessory Dwelling Units. The town council may grant an exception to the number of ~~second-accessory dwelling~~ units permitted on a lot or parcel to permit two ~~second-accessory dwelling~~ units on a parcel or lot, provided the parcel or lot is at least one acre in size.

(b) Exception to Height. The town council may grant an ~~residential-secondaccessory dwelling~~ unit height increase to two stories with a maximum building height of thirty feet at any point when measured from either existing or finished grade, whichever is lower.

(c) Exception to Location. The town council may grant an exception to the location standard to ~~create~~ allow a newly constructed ~~residential-secondaccessory dwelling~~ unit above an existing first floor.

(d) Exception to Size. The town council may grant an ~~residential-accessory second dwelling~~ unit size increase to 1,200 square feet.

(e) The town council may grant an exception enumerated above if the exception complies with the design review criteria and standards of Section 18.41.100 and the town council makes the following findings:

(1) The exception will not create a significant adverse impact on any adjacent property, the surrounding neighborhood, or the general public good.

(2) The lot and the arrangement of existing and proposed physical improvements on the lot can accommodate the exception without adversely affecting the views, privacy, or access to light and air of neighboring properties.

(3) Any modifications to site drainage shall be designed by a licensed engineer and shall result in no net increase to the rate or volume of peak runoff from the site compared to pre-project conditions. Any new mechanical pumps or equipment shall not create noise that is audible off site.

(4) The fire chief has confirmed that there is adequate water supply for firefighting purposes for the site, or that the project includes measures to provide adequate water supply for firefighting purposes.

18.42.065 Rent-restricted second-accessory dwelling units. At its discretion, the town council may grant an exception to the floor area requirement as set forth in Section 18.42.050~~(f)~~<sup>(e)</sup> if the owner agrees to occupy or rent a newly constructed ~~residential-secondaccessory dwelling~~ unit as a rent-restricted ~~second-accessory dwelling~~ unit, if the ~~residential-secondaccessory dwelling~~ unit is not located on a hillside area as defined in Section 18.39.020(a), and if the town council makes specific findings of fact as set forth in this section.

(a) Exception to Floor Area. The town council may grant a floor area bonus of up to 500 square feet if the newly constructed ~~residential-secondaccessory dwelling~~ unit is to be rent-restricted for a very low income household. Any floor area exception shall only apply to the area of a new ~~second-accessory dwelling~~ unit and shall not be granted to allow an addition to the primary residence or traded off for an addition to the primary residence in the future.

(b) The town council may grant a floor area exception if the exception complies with the design review criteria and standards of Section 18.41.100 and the town council makes the following findings:

(1) The exception will not create a significant adverse impact on any adjacent property, the surrounding neighborhood, or the general public good.

(2) The lot and the arrangement of existing and proposed physical improvements on the lot can accommodate the exception without adversely affecting the views, privacy, or access to light and air of neighboring properties.

(3) Any modifications to site drainage shall be designed by a licensed engineer and shall result in no net increase to the rate or volume of peak runoff from the site compared to pre-project conditions. Any new mechanical pumps or equipment shall not create noise that is audible off site.

(4) The fire chief has confirmed that there is adequate water supply for firefighting purposes for the site, or that the project includes measures to provide adequate water supply for firefighting purposes.

(c) Declaration of Rent Restrictions. The owner shall submit a signed Declaration of Rent Restrictions, to be recorded before or concurrently with, and as a condition of, issuance of the rent-restricted second-accessory dwelling unit permit, reflecting the rent restriction. The Town shall provide the form of such Declaration.

(d) Affordable Rent Certification. An owner who has executed a Declaration shall submit to the Town an Residential-Second-Accessory Dwelling Unit Affordable Rent Certification on an annual basis, effective each December 31 and as part of the annual Town business license application and renewal, and upon any change in occupancy of the residential-second-accessory dwelling unit, specifying whether or not the residential-second-accessory dwelling unit is being occupied, the rent charged, the utilities included in the cost of rent, the household size of the residential-second-accessory dwelling unit, the names and ages of the residential-second-accessory dwelling unit occupants, the gross household income of the residential-second-accessory dwelling unit household, and other information as determined appropriate by the Town. The Town shall provide the form of the Certification to be signed under penalty of perjury by both the owner and the tenant, if any.

(e) Termination of Rent-Restricted Second-Unit-Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit. At its discretion, the town council may grant an owner's request to terminate a rent-restricted second-accessory dwelling unit permit. The town council shall consider the length of time such permit has been in force, the conditions of approval, the exceptions granted for the permit, and the impact on the town's affordable housing supply. In no case shall such permit be terminated prior to 20 years from the date of town council approval under this section. As a condition of termination, the town council shall require the owner to make modifications to the property to comply with current building code requirements and to comply with the planning code requirements in effect at the time the exception(s) was granted or obtain a variance from such requirements. (Ord. 625 (part), 2011).

**18.42.070 Administration and Enforcement.** (a) Any exception request that does not comply with the prescribed limitations set forth in this chapter shall require a variance, pursuant

to Chapter 18.48.

(b) Nonconforming residential second accessory dwelling units.

(1) Nonconforming residential second accessory dwelling units previously granted a conditional use permit or administrative approval may continue in use subject to the conditions of their original approval and the provisions of Chapter 18.44 of this code.

~~(2) On or before June 1, 2012, the owner of each non-conforming residential second unit not previously granted a conditional use permit shall make application to the town planner for establishment of a conforming residential second unit subject to all requirements of this chapter. During the amnesty period, planning and building applications for such residential second unit permits shall not be subject to penalties and inspection fees as provided in the Ross Municipal Code and by resolution of the town council for work without a permit, but instead shall be subject to only the standard application and permit fees.~~

~~(23) It is declared that any non-conforming residential second accessory dwelling unit not previously granted a conditional use permit and not made given conforming status pursuant to subsection (a) (2) of this section prior to June 1, 2012 or issued a certificate of conformity, shall constitute a public nuisance, and such nuisance may be abated as provided by law.~~

(c) Inactive applications. Consistent with state law, the town planner may administratively deny without prejudice any application which remains incomplete or inactive for a period of greater than ninety days, or is continued at the applicant's request for more than sixty days.

(d) Violation. An illegal residential second accessory dwelling unit is a residential second accessory dwelling unit which is not an approved residential second accessory dwelling unit or is in violation of the Declaration of Deed Restrictions or the Declaration of Rent Restrictions. The Town Manager is authorized to pursue any remedies provided by law against the owner of an illegal residential second accessory dwelling unit or an residential second accessory dwelling unit not maintained in conformance with this Chapter, including:

(1) General. Those remedies set forth in Chapters 9.04 and 18.64 of this code;

(2) Costs. In any civil enforcement action, administrative or judicial, the Town is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees and costs from an owner who is determined to have an illegal residential second accessory dwelling unit;

(3) Revocation of the Residential Second Accessory Dwelling Unit Permit;

(4) Citations issued pursuant to the Administrative Citation Procedure authorized by California Government Code, Section 53069.4;

(5) Deed Restriction/Contract. Any liquidated damages or stipulated penalties authorized under any deed restriction or contract executed by the owner as a condition of the issuance of the residential second accessory dwelling unit permit.

(e) Enforcement. Failure to comply in any way with the provisions of this chapter, approved plans, or conditions for application approval constitutes grounds for the town to immediately stop work related to the noncompliance until the matter is resolved or require that the noncompliance be remediated. Such violation will be subject to the enforcement penalties

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"

Commented [A4]: Let's talk about how to handle this section.

and procedures of Chapters 9.04 and 18.64 of this code. (Ord. 641 (part), 2013; Ord. 625 (part), 2011; Ord. 578 §8(part), 2003).